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District of Columbia 
Office of the State Superintendent of Education 

Office of Dispute Resolution 
810 First Street, NE, 2nd Floor, Washington, DC  20002 

(202) 698-3819   www.osse.dc.gov 
 

__________________________________________________________________     
Parent, on behalf of Student,1  ) Room: 2004  
Petitioner,     ) Hearing: November 14, 2016 
      )  HOD Due: November 30, 2016  
 v.     ) Hearing Officer: Michael Lazan  
      )  Case No.: 2016-0247 
DCPS,       ) Issue Date: November 29, 2016   
      )    
Respondent.     )                                                    

 
HEARING OFFICER DETERMINATION 

 
I.  Introduction 

 
 This is a case involving an X-year-old student who is eligible for services as a 

Student with a Multiple Disabilities.  (the “Student”)     

           A Due Process Complaint(“Complaint”) was received by District of Columbia 

Public Schools (“DCPS” or “Respondent”) pursuant to the Individuals with Disabilities 

Education Act (“IDEA”) on October 18, 2016 in regard to the Student.    On October 26, 

2016, Respondent filed a response.   The resolution period ended, in this expedited matter 

involving student discipline pursuant to 34 CFR Sect. 300.532(c), on October 25, 2016.   

The HOD is due on November 30, 2016, which is ten school days after the date of the 

hearing -- allowing for the Thanksgiving break period.            

II.  Subject Matter Jurisdiction 

                                                 
1Personally identifiable information is attached as Appendix A and must be removed prior to public 
distribution. 
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 This due process hearing was held, and a decision in this matter is being rendered, 

pursuant to the Individuals with Disabilities Improvement Act (“IDEIA”), 20 U.S.C. 

Sect. 1400 et seq., its implementing regulations, 34 C.F.R. Sect. 300 et seq., Title 38 of 

the D.C. Code, Subtitle VII, Chapter 25, and the District of Columbia Municipal 

Regulations, Title 5-E, Chapter 30. 

III. Procedural History 
  

 On November 2, 2016, this Hearing Officer held a prehearing conference. 

Attorney A, Esq., counsel for Petitioner, appeared.   Attorney B, Esq., counsel for 

Respondent, appeared.    A prehearing conference order issued on November 2, 2016, 

summarizing the rules to be applied in this hearing and identifying the issues in the case.    

 There was one hearing date in this case, on November 14, 2016.  This was a 

closed proceeding.   Petitioner was represented by Attorney A, Esq.   Respondent was 

represented by Attorney B, Esq.   Petitioner moved in Exhibits 1-41.  There were no 

objections.  Exhibits 1-41 were admitted.  Respondent moved into evidence Exhibits 1-

21.   There were no objections. Exhibits 1-21 were admitted.  

 The parties presented oral closing statements at the close of testimony on 

November 14, 2016.        

 Petitioner presented as witnesses:  Petitioner; Witness A, a psychologist (expert: 

school psychology and clinical psychology); Student; and Witness B, an advocate 

(expert: special education programming).  DCPS presented as witnesses:  Witness C, a 

Monitoring Specialist.    

               IV. Credibility. 
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 I found all the witnesses in this case to be credible.  No material inconsistencies 

were found with respect to any witness.    

V. Issues 

 As identified in the Prehearing Conference Summary and Order and in the Due 

Process Complaint, the issues to be determined are as follows: 

1.  Did DCPS fail to conduct a Manifestation Determination Review as a 

result of the incident on or about September 12, 2016? If so, did DCPS improperly 

suspend the school without a school placement since that date? If so, did DCPS violate 34 

CFR 300.530(e) and (f)? If so, did DCPS deny the Student a FAPE?  

2.  Did DCPS fail to conduct an FBA and comprehensive psychological 

evaluation of the Student during the 2015-2016 school year and through to the present? If 

so, did DCPS fail to assess the Student in all areas of suspected disability? If so, did 

DCPS violate 28 U.S.C. Sect.1414(b)(3), 34 C.F.R. Sect.300.304(c), and related 

provisions? If so, did DCPS deny the Student a FAPE?  

3.  Did DCPS fail to conduct a BIP of the Student during the 2015-2016 

school year and through to the present? If so, did DCPS violate, inter alia, 34 CFR Sect. 

300.320, 34 CFR Sect. 300.17, 34 CFR Sect. 300.324, related provisions of the DCMS, and 

act in contravention of some of the principles in such cases as Hendrick Hudson Bd. Of Educ. 

v. Rowley, 458 U.S. 176 (1982)? If so, did DCPS deny the Student a FAPE? 

4.  Did DCPS fail to provide the Student with appropriate transportation services 

since September 12, 2016? If so, did DCPS violate 34 CFR Sect. 300.34? If so, did DCPS 

deny the Student a FAPE?  

As relief, Petitioner requests that the Student be placed back at School A or a similar 

such therapeutic placement, and compensatory education for the time the Student was out of 
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school in the form of tutoring and counseling.  Petitioner also seeks an FBA/BIP, and 

increased counseling and behavioral support. 

VI. Findings of Fact 
 

1. The Student is a  who is currently eligible for services as a student 

with Multiple Disabilities (Emotional Disturbance, Other Health Impairment).   The 

Student has a low average IQ with reading and writing standardized test scores that are 

about grade level, though math scores are well below grade level.   The Student is 

described as depressed and aggressive, with a low frustration tolerance and poor self-

control.  The Student has been diagnosed with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, 

Combined type, and Disruptive Mood Dysregulation Disorder, and needs a considerable 

amount of special education support to get through the school day. (Testimony of 

Witness A; Testimony of Parent; P-22-1; P-23-7-6) 

 2. The Student’s academic career has involved attendance at a minimum of 

seven schools, some of which removed the Student because of behavior issues.   Many of 

these behavior issues occurred on the school bus.  However, this all changed once the 

Student started attending School A.  At this location, the Student started to do better 

because of the school’s structure, curriculum and intense services.  The Student sees 

School A “like a regular high school” and praises the academics at the school.  The 

school has a schoolwide behavioral support system, many behavioral staff, there is a 

consulting psychologist, and there is a “level system” to reward positive behavior.  

(Testimony of Witness C; Testimony of Parent)   

 3. The Student was tested through the BASC-2 in June, 2014.   The BASC-2 

self-test revealed elevated levels in the areas of self-esteem, inadequacy, anxiety and 

stress in social situations, self-control problems, and poor attitude toward school.   On a 
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teacher rating by the Student’s math teacher, no elevations were noted.   On a teacher 

rating by the Student’s social studies and homeroom teacher, significant levels of 

disruption were reported, including being disrespectful, destroying property, and fighting 

with others.  (P-23-7-9)  

 4. The Student was at School A for the 2014-2015 school year.  The 

Student’s IEP for the 2014-2015 school year was created on or about June 11, 2014.  The 

Student was classified as a student with Multiple Disabilities, was recommended for 25 

hours per week of specialized instruction outside of general education, and was 

recommended for sixty minutes per week of behavioral support services and thirty 

minutes per week of speech-language pathology.  The Student’s behavior significantly 

improved during this year and he made a lot of progress in English.  (P-8; P-13-2) 

  5. The Student continued at School A for the 2015-2016 school year.  The 

IEP for this year was created on or about May 7, 2015.  The IEP indicated that the 

Student is generally compliant and is motivated to succeed academically, but has 

difficulty expressing feelings and controlling anger.  The Student also has difficulty 

appropriately interacting with other people and accepting responsibility for behavior.  

The Student was recommended for 28.5 hours per week of specialized instruction outside 

of general education, sixty minutes per week of behavioral support services, and thirty 

minutes per week of speech-language pathology.  (P-12) 

 6. The Student continued at School A for the 2016-2017 school year.  The 

Student’s IEP for the 2016-2017 school year was created on or about May 3, 2016.  The 

Student was again classified as a student with Multiple Disabilities, and was again 

recommended for 28.5 hours per week of specialized instruction outside of general 
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education, with sixty minutes per week of behavioral support services and thirty minutes 

per week of speech-language pathology. There were no changes to the present levels of 

performance sections in regard to emotional, social and behavioral issues.  (P-14) 

 7. During summer school, on August 9, 2016, the Student was engaged in a 

physical altercation.    Among other things, the Student inappropriately touched another 

student’s face.  After the Student became uncontrollable, the school staff had to employ a 

physical hold to control the Student.  The incident earned the Student a half-day 

suspension. (P-29-1; P-35-3)  

8. Two days later, on August 11, 2016, there was another, more serious 

incident.    The Student began punching a student repeatedly on a school bus, and then 

when the bus driver assisted, the Student attacked the driver.  The other student suffered 

welts on the face as a result.   (P-29-2)  

9. The Student was then suspended for 5 days.  Since summer session was 

about over, and school was starting on or about September 6, 2016, some of these days 

were served in September, 2016, at the start of the school year.  (Testimony of Petitioner; 

P-35-4)      

 10. School A then decided they could not keep the Student in the school any 

longer.   It was determined, therefore, that the Student would be expelled.   On September 

9, 2016, School A officials told DCPS of the decision to expel the Student.  School A 

informed DCPS that they would keep the Student in the school for fifteen school days 

pursuant to local law, but no more.  (R-10-1-2; R-11; R-12; R-13) 

11. A meeting was held between the Student, the parent, DCPS staff and 

School A staff on September 12, 2016.   The Student was told that he/she would be able 
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to attend School A for fifteen school days but not more, and could not go on the bus any 

longer.   The Student would be in a classroom alone at the school.  The parent was asked 

to front the money for a car service to transport the Student to and from the school, and 

was promised full reimbursement of the money.    Alternatively, the Student was offered 

a card to take the District of Columbia Metro to and from school, or the District of 

Columbia public bus system.  (Testimony of Witness C; Testimony of Witness D; 

Testimony of Petitioner; R-14-2; R-13) 

12. Also at the meeting, the Student was asked to sign a behavioral contract 

for the fifteen-day period.   The fifteen-day contract identifies a separate location for the 

student, and asks the Student to refrain from a variety of inappropriate behaviors such as 

being out of location, aggression, making inappropriate comments.   However, on the 

advice of Witness B, the Student refused to sign the contract.  (Testimony of Witness C; 

Testimony of Witness D; Testimony of Petitioner; R-14-2; R-13) 

13. The parent objected to having to front the money for transportation, and 

objected because the Student would be alone in a class.  As a result, after September 12, 

2016, the Student did not go to School A.   Instead, the Student’s friend brought work 

home.  The Student did as much of it as possible, but some of the work the Student could 

not manage to do.  (Testimony of Petitioner; Testimony of Witness C; Testimony of 

Student; R-16-2-3) 

14.   Immediately thereafter, DCPS looked for schools for the Student.  The 

Student and parent were given a choice of schools, and they selected School B.   On 

September 30, 2016, the Student was formally offered School B as a location of service.   

The Student then began to attend.   Initially, the parent had to pay a transportation service 
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to get the Student to and from school.   Thereafter, a private van was sent to pick the 

Student up, which was the practice at the time of the hearing.  The parent has been 

promised reimbursement for the transportation services that she paid for at the start of the 

Student’s time at School B.  (Testimony of Witness C; Testimony of Petitioner; P-36-1)  

 15. The Student is not completely satisfied with School B, which is not as 

rigorous as School A.   To Student B, the school seems “very loose” and some of the 

work seems redundant with what the Student had already been taught.  (Testimony of 

Student)  

VII. Conclusions of Law 

 Based upon the above Findings of Fact, the arguments of counsel, as well as this 

Hearing Officer’s own legal research, the Conclusions of Law of this Hearing Officer are 

as follows: 

 DCPS has the burden of persuasion on the appropriateness of the existing or 

proposed IEP program or placement, though Petitioner must establish a prima facie case 

before the burden of persuasion falls on DCPS. The burden of persuasion shall be met by 

a preponderance of the evidence.  D.C. Code Sect. 38-2571.03.   Moreover, in reviewing 

a decision with respect to the manifestation determination, the hearing officer must 

determine whether DCPS has demonstrated that the child's behavior was not a 

manifestation of such child's disability. 5 DCMR Sect. 2510.16.  Otherwise, the burden 

of proof in a special education due process hearing lies with the party seeking relief. 5-

EDCMR 3030.3; Schaffer v. Weast, 546 U.S. 49 (2005).  In this connection, it is 

important to recall the language of Judge O’Connor in Schaffer: “(I)n truth, however, 

very few cases will be in evidentiary equipoise.”  546 U.S. at 58.   
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 The central purpose of the IDEA is to ensure that all children with disabilities have 

available to them special education and related services designed to meet their unique needs 

and provided in conformance with a written IEP (i.e., free and appropriate public education, 

or “FAPE”). 20 U.S.C. Sects. 1400(d)(1(A), 1401(9)(D), 1414(d); 34 C.F.R. Sects. 

300.17(d), 300.320; Shaffer v. Weast, 546 U.S. 49, 51 (2005). Pursuant to the 

Supreme Court's decision in Board of Education of the Hendrick Hudson Central School 

District, Westchester County v. Rowley, 458 U.S. 176, (1982), the IEP must, at a minimum, 

“provid[e] personalized instruction with sufficient support services to permit the child to 

benefit educationally from that instruction.” Branham v. District of Columbia, 427 F.3d 7 

(D.C. Cir. 2005). 

 In matters alleging a procedural violation, a hearing officer may find that a child 

did not receive a FAPE only if the procedural inadequacies: (i) Impeded the child's right to 

a FAPE; (ii) Significantly impeded the parent's opportunity to participate in the decision-

making process regarding the provision of a FAPE to the parent's child; or (iii) Caused a 

deprivation of educational benefit.   34 CFR Sect. 300.513(a). 

1. Did DCPS fail to conduct a Manifestation Determination Review as a 
result of the incident on or about September 12, 2016? If so, did DCPS improperly 
suspend the school without a school placement since that date? If so, did DCPS 
violate 34 CFR 300.530(e) and (f)? If so, did DCPS deny the Student a FAPE?  
 
 If a child with a disability is removed from the child’s current placement for 10 

consecutive school days, disciplinary protections apply.  34 CFR Sect. 300.530(b)(2); 34 

CFR Sect. 300.536.   Within 10 school days of any decision to change the placement of a 

child with a disability because of a violation of a code of student conduct, the LEA, the 

parent, and relevant members of the child's IEP Team (as determined by the parent and 

the LEA) must review all relevant information in the student's file, including the child's 
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IEP, any teacher observations, and any relevant information provided by the parents to 

determine if the conduct in question was caused by, or had a direct and substantial 

relationship to, the child's disability and if the conduct in question was the direct result of 

the LEA's failure to implement the IEP.  34 CFR Sect. 300.530(d)  

   Similarly, the District of Columbia requires, pursuant to 5 D.C.M.R. Sect. 

2510.12. that the IEP Team may determine that the behavior of the child was not a 

manifestation of such child's disability only if the IEP Team first considers  all relevant 

information, including  evaluation and diagnostic and results, or other relevant 

information supplied by the parents of the child; observations of the child; the child's IEP 

and placement; and any other material deemed relevant by the IEP Team, including, but 

not limited to, school progress reports, anecdotal notes and facts related to disciplinary 

action taken by administrative personnel.   The IEP team must also determine that, in 

relationship to the behavior subject to disciplinary action, the child's IEP, and placement 

were appropriate and the special education services, supplementary aids and services, and 

behavior intervention strategies were provided consistent with the child's IEP and 

placement; that the child's disability did not impair the ability of the child to understand 

the impact and consequences of the behavior subject to disciplinary action; and the child's 

disability did not impair the ability of the child to control the behavior subject to 

disciplinary action.  

 If there is a determination that the conduct is a manifestation of the Student’s 

disability, the school district team may be required to place the Student back into the 

original school setting unless there is an agreement with the parent.    The school district 

must also do a functional behavioral assessment -- unless it conducted a functional 
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behavioral assessment before the behavior that resulted in the change of placement 

occurred.  It must also implement a behavioral intervention plan for the child, or if a 

behavioral intervention plan already has been developed, review the behavioral 

intervention plan, and modify it, as necessary, to address the behavior.  34 CFR Sect. 

300.530(d)(f)(1) and (2).  

 The record is clear on this issue: there was no manifestation determination ever 

rendered in this case.   Instead, after the Student had already been suspended five days for 

the two incidents in August, School A simply decided to expel the Student on its own.   The 

school did allow the Student to go back to it for fifteen days to comply with 5-A DCMR 

Sect. 2822.1, but the Student was to go to a class alone, a clearly different educational 

placement than the earlier placement which consisted of actual classes with students in 

them.2    

This is not how the process is supposed to work.   Within ten days of the decision 

to suspend, the school district is supposed to have a meeting to determine whether the 

conduct was related to the Student’s disability.   As part of this decision, the district is 

supposed to review the student’s file carefully and consider other factors, such as the 

appropriateness of the IEP, the appropriateness of the implemented behavior strategies, or 

an assessment as to whether the child's disability either impaired the ability to understand 

                                                 
2 It is noted that a change in placement results from "a fundamental change in, or elimination of, a basic 
element of the educational program.” Lunceford v. District of Columbia, 745 F.2d 1577, 1582 (D.C. Cir. 
1984). In Letter to Fisher, 21 IDELR 992 (OSEP 1994), the United States Department of Education Office 
of Special Education Programs (OSEP) called the issue of determining change of placement a very fact-
specific inquiry and concluded that whether a change in educational placement has occurred turns on 
"whether the proposed change would substantially or materially alter the child's educational program." Here, 
the complete elimination of other students from the classroom was clearly a change of placement.    
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the impact of the behavior or control the behavior.    Then, and only then, is there to be a 

determination on whether the behavior was a manifestation of the student’s disability. 

 The meeting on September 12 was only to memorialize the decision that had 

been already made by the school.   There is nothing in this record to establish that School 

A or Respondent considered all the relevant documents during this meeting or 

meaningfully deliberated on whether the Student’s disability might have been the cause, 

or had a direct or substantial relationship to, this misbehavior.   Nor was there any 

analysis of whether the LEA’s failure to implement the Student’s IEP directly caused this 

misconduct.              

 A manifestation determination was particularly important here, since it is clear on 

this record that the Student’s aggressive behavior was in fact a manifestation of the 

Student’s disability.   The Student is partially classified as Emotionally Disturbed, and 

the Student is diagnosed with Disruptive Mood Dysregulation Disorder.   The Student’s 

IEPs specifically mention an inability to control anger, which was the exact problem in 

both of the incidents in August.    I agree with the testimony of Witness A that the 

behavior at issue was in fact a manifestation of the disability,3 and that, therefore, the 

Student should have been returned to the former placement and also received an FBA and 

BIP to address behavioral issues.   

                                                 
3 In fact, one need not be classified as a student with an emotional disturbance for a student to be protected 
by the disciplinary protections of the IDEA.   For instance, in Bristol Township Sch. Dist. V. Z.B., 2016 WL 
161600 (E.D. Pa., January 14, 2016), a behavioral incident occurred as a result of actions occasioned by the 
student with a designation of Other Health Impairment.  Affirming the hearing officer, the court found that a 
manifestation determination must look at whether the Student’s disability had a direct or substantial impact 
on the incident after carefully examining all relevant available information.  Id. @ *11-*12.     
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DCPS suggested that it was not responsible here because these were actions 

undertaken by School A, not DCPS.    I can certainly appreciate this point, and DCPS 

was put into an unfortunate position by School A in this instance.   Still, the LEA is held 

responsible for students within its jurisdiction, and that includes students who have been 

placed in private schools.   DCPS also contended that the time period of the deprivation 

was de minimis and that FAPE denial should not be found.   However, in similar cases 

involving deprivation that did not last a long period of time, courts in the circuit have 

favored parents. Wilson v. District of Columbia, 770 F.Supp.2d 270, 274 (D.D.C. 

2011)(in failure to implement case, failure to provide transportation for three weeks 

constituted FAPE deprivation); Lofton v. District of Columbia, 7 F.Supp.3d 117, 124 

(D.D.C. 2013)(in failure to implement case, school could not implement 30 minutes of 

occupational therapy per week).  While DCPS responded quickly to the suspension by 

offering a new placement within a few weeks, I am constrained to hold DCPS denied the 

Student educational benefit, and therefore a FAPE, by failing to conduct a proper MDR 

meeting for the Student and then changing the Student’s educational placement after the 

decision to expel the Student in September, 2016.    

2. Did DCPS fail to conduct an FBA and comprehensive psychological 
evaluation of the Student during the 2015-2016 school year and through to the 
present? If so, did DCPS fail to assess the Student in all areas of suspected 
disability? If so, did DCPS violate 28 U.S.C. Sect.1414(b)(3), 34 C.F.R. 
Sect.300.304(c), and related provisions? If so, did DCPS deny the Student a FAPE?  

 
An LEA is required to use a variety of assessment tools and strategies to gather 

relevant functional, developmental, and academic information, including information 

provided by the parent, that may assist in determining (i) whether the child is a child with 

a disability; and (ii) the content of the child's individualized education program, including 
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information related to enabling the child to be involved in and progress in the general 

education curriculum, or, for preschool children, to participate in appropriate activities.   

The LEA should not use any single measure or assessment as the sole criterion for 

determining whether a child is a child with a disability or determining an appropriate 

educational program for the child, and use technically sound instruments that may assess 

the relative contribution of cognitive and behavioral factors, in addition to physical or 

developmental factors.  28 U.S.C. Sect. 1414(b)(2); 34 C.F.R. Sect. 300.304(b).  

 The LEA must also ensure that the assessment and evaluation materials that are 

utilized to assess the child are selected and administered so as not to be discriminatory 

on a racial or cultural basis; are provided and administered in the language and form  

most likely to yield accurate information on what the child knows and can do 

academically, developmentally, and functionally, unless it is not feasible to so provide  

or administer; are used for purposes for which the assessments or measures are valid  

and reliable; are administered by trained and knowledgeable personnel; and  

are administered in accordance with any instructions provided by the producer of such 

assessments.  The LEA is further required to ensure that the child is assessed in all areas 

of suspected disability and that the chosen assessment tools and strategies that provide  

relevant information that directly assists persons in determining the educational 

needs of the child are provided.   28 U.S.C. Sect.1414(b)(3); 34 C.F.R. Sect.300.304(c). 

 Petitioner contended that the Student required a psychological evaluation and an 

FBA during the 2015-2016 school year, pointing out that the Student has not had an 

evaluation since 2014.  However, there is no witness testimony supporting this argument.  

Notably Witness A did not make any clear or definitive statements alleging that the Student 
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needed to be re-evaluated or needed a psychological assessment.  Moreover, Petitioner did 

not really explain how it is that an evaluation would have changed the Student’s 

explosiveness or overall performance at School A.   It is noted that the requirement is to 

conduct an evaluation every three years, i.e., a triennial evaluation.  34 C.F.R. Sect. 

300.303(b)(2).   Also in consideration of the fact that the Student was doing well at School 

A prior to the 2016-2017 IEP, the 2014 evaluation was enough to assess the Student in all 

areas of suspected disability, at least in regard to psychological profile.  

 Additionally, as Respondent pointed out, there is recent authority within the circuit 

that an FBA is not required to assess the Student’s behavior.   E.L. Haynes Pub. Charter 

Sch. v. Frost, 66 IDELR 287 (D.D.C 2015) (LEA is not obligated to conduct a functional 

behavior assessment in order to assess a child in all areas of suspected disability). 

 This claim must be dismissed. 

3. Did DCPS fail to conduct a BIP of the Student during the 2015-2016 school 
year and through to the present? If so, did DCPS violate, inter alia, 34 CFR Sect. 
300.320, 34 CFR Sect. 300.17, 34 CFR Sect. 300.324, related provisions of the DCMS, 
and act in contravention of some of the principles in such cases as Hendrick Hudson Bd. 
Of Educ. v. Rowley, 458 U.S. 176 (1982)? If so, did DCPS deny the Student a FAPE? 

 
A Behavior Intervention Plan is not required under the IDEA.  The IDEA requires 

that the IEP team shall consider the use of positive behavioral supports and other 

strategies to address that behavior in conformance with the IDEA and its implementing 

regulations. 20 U.S.C. Sect. 1414(d)(3)(B)(i); 34 C.F.R. Sect. 300.324(a)(2)(i).  

According to 5-E DCMR Sect. 3007.3, if a student’s behavior impedes the child's 

learning or the learning of others, the IEP team shall consider strategies, including 

positive behavioral intervention, strategies, and supports, to address that behavior.    
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 Still, there is some District of Columbia precedent establishes that school districts 

must address a Student’s emotional and behavioral issues if they adversely affect a 

Student’s educational performance.   Long v. Dist. of Columbia, 780 F. Supp.2d 49 

(D.D.C. 2008)(in ruling the District failed to provide an BIP for a Student, court stated 

that “the quality of a student’s education is inextricably linked to the student’s 

behavior”); cf.  T.M. v. District of Columbia, 75 F.Supp.3d 233, 246 (D.D.C. 

2014)(finding no violation where the LEA “had a BIP in place” at the time of the alleged 

misbehavior).  

 As with Issue #2, there is no witness testimony supporting this argument.  Notably, 

Witness A did not make any clear or definitive statements alleging that the Student needed 

to have a BIP in 2015-2016.   Nor is this argument supported by any of the reports in the 

record, including the compensatory education report of Witness C.  Moreover, the 

documents in the record establish that the Student was behaving reasonably well in school 

and did not require a BIP.   The IEP dated May 7, 2015 stated that, within a “highly 

structured” classroom (like at School A), the Student was generally compliant.   The IEP 

indicated that the Student did have issues with expressing feelings and interacting with 

others.  However, the record makes clear that School A is set up for students with 

significant behavioral problems (like the Student) and provides a number of significant, 

direct supports to all students, including schoolwide behavioral support systems to provide 

reinforcement for behaviors.   These interventions had clearly been effective for the Student 

for several years prior to the incidents in question.   In this kind of situation, a BIP is simply 

not needed.         

 This claim must be dismissed. 
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4. Did DCPS fail to provide the Student with appropriate transportation services 
since September 12, 2016? If so, did DCPS violate 34 CFR Sect. 300.34? If so, did DCPS 
deny the Student a FAPE? 

 
As Petitioner points out, transportation is a related service pursuant to the IDEA.   A 

school district to provide a related service when that service is necessary to assist a student to 

benefit from special education.  34 CFR Sect. 300.34(a)      

Petitioner argued that the Student could not attend School A -- and then School B -- 

because there was no bus service arranged after the explusion.    Petitioner argued that School 

A provided a special bus service to the Student before the expulsion which helped the 

Student get to school.   However, the school refused to provide this service any more after its 

staff member was attacked.   Moreover, the applicable IEP, written on May 3, 2016, did not 

require the Student to take a private bus, or even a bus at all.  The IEP required that the 

Student take public transportation, and DCPS in fact offered the Student a card to take public 

transportation.    

It is important to mention that DCPS offered the Student an opportunity to be fully 

reimbursed for all private car expenses that might have been incurred as a result of travel to 

and from school.    Given that School A was refusing to take the Student to school, this was a 

reasonable position for the school district to take.  I am not convinced by the parent’s 

rationale that she could not “front” the money to pay for the car service.   In fact, when the 

location of services was changed to School B, she did pay for it up front, and this money will 

all be reimbursed to her by the school district and/or OSSE.    

This claim is dismissed. 

VIII.  Relief 

 When school districts deny Students a FAPE, courts have wide discretion to insure 

that students receive a FAPE going forward.   As the Supreme Court stated: 
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  The statute directs the court to “grant such relief as [it]  
  determines is appropriate.” The ordinary meaning of  
  these words confer broad discretion on the court. The  
  type of relief is not further specified, except that it must  
  be “appropriate.” Absent other reference, the only possible  
  interpretation is that the relief is to be “appropriate” in  
  light of the purpose of the Act.  As already noted, this is  
  principally to provide handicapped children with “a free  
  appropriate public education which emphasizes special  
  education and related services designed to meet their  
  unique needs. 
 
School Committee of the Town of Burlington v. Dep't of Education, Massachusetts, 471 

U.S. 359, 371 (1985).   

 In the prehearing order, Petitioner requested that the Student be placed back at 

School A or at a similar such therapeutic setting.  However, in closing, Petitioner did not 

clearly mention this request.    Additionally, other than the testimony of the child, there is 

nothing in the record to clearly describe the difficulties with the program that the Student 

is now receiving at School B.   Though the Student did indicate some displeasure with the 

school, Witness A and Witness B did not mention that the school was incapable of 

providing the Student with a FAPE.   Under these circumstances, there is an insufficient 

record upon which to order a change of location.   

In regard to the request for compensatory education, Petitioner seeks 150 hours of 

tutoring, 5 hours of individual speech therapy, and 10 hours of individual behavior 

support services.   One of the equitable remedies available to a hearing officer, exercising 

his authority to grant "appropriate" relief under IDEA, is compensatory education. Under 

the theory of compensatory education, courts and hearing officers may award 

“educational services to be provided prospectively to compensate for a past deficient 

program.” Reid v. District of Columbia, 401 F.3d 516, 521-23 (D.C. Cir. 2005).  In every 

case, however, the inquiry must be fact-specific and, to accomplish IDEA's purposes, the 
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ultimate award must be reasonably calculated to provide the educational benefits that 

likely would have accrued from special education services the school district should have 

supplied in the first place. Id., 401 F. 3d at 524; see also Friendship Edison Public Charter 

School v. Nesbitt, 532 F. Supp. 2d 121, 125 (D.D.C. 2008) (compensatory award must be 

based on a "'qualitative, fact-intensive' inquiry used to craft an award 'tailored to the 

unique needs of the disabled student").  

 A Petitioner need not "have a perfect case” to be entitled to a compensatory 

education award. Stanton v. District of Columbia, 680 F. Supp. 201 (D.D.C. 2011) Under 

the IDEA, if a Student is denied a FAPE, a hearing officer may not “simply refuse” to 

grant one. Henry v. District of Columbia, 55 IDELR 187 (D.D.C. 2010)   Some students 

may require only short, intensive compensatory programs targeted at specific problems or 

deficiencies. Reid, 401 F.3d at 524. 

 Recently, the Circuit expressed some concern about the breadth of compensatory 

education awards in the District of Columbia.  In B.D. v. District of Columbia, 2016 WL 

1104846 (March 22, 2016)(D.C. Cir. 2016), the Circuit elaborated on the appropriate way 

to calculate compensatory education.  Judge Tatel explained that a proper award not only 

makes up for educational services that were missed, but also compensates for any 

regression suffered by the Student as a result of the deprivation. Id. @ *5.  

Petitioner’s award is premised on a deprivation through October 21, 2016.  However, 

the record indicated that the Student actually was offered school B on September 30, 2016.   

Accordingly, the deprivation here was approximately two to two and a half weeks (factoring 

in that the school district was able to suspend the student for ten days without a manifestation 

determination; see 34 CFR Sect. 300.300.530(b)(1)).  I therefore find the request for 150 

hours of services to be excessive, noting that I do not find Witness B’s rationale along these 
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lines to be clear.  I will therefore call upon my years of experience as a hearing officer, and a 

thorough review of the record, and craft an “qualitative” award of thirty hours of 

individualized tutoring, by a special education teacher. 

In regard to the request for speech and language therapy and behavior support 

services, they are similarly excessive in my view given that the Student was only entitled to 

thirty minutes of speech per week and sixty minutes of behavioral support services per week.   

I will therefore reduce the award to two hours of individual speech therapy and four hours of 

behavioral support services.        

Petitioner also seeks an FBA/BIP, which she is certainly entitled to given that I have 

found that the Student’s conduct was a manifestation of the disability.   Also, Petitioner seeks 

a comprehensive psychological evaluation, but there is nothing in the record to indicate that 

such an evaluation is due or necessary.   Significantly, Witness A did not testify that the 

Student required such an evaluation.     Finally, in regard to the requests for increased 

counseling and behavioral support, this was not mentioned by Witness A in her testimony 

and there is insufficient support in the record for these requests, which are denied.  

Parenthetically, in the closing argument, Petitioner also asked for an order of 

transportation to and from School B.  However, as of this date, such transportation is being 

provided.  Since there is nothing in the record to suggest that this transportation will be 

discontinued, I must deny this request for relief.      

IX.  Order 

 As a result of the foregoing: 

 1. Respondent is hereby ordered to provide the Student with thirty hours of 

individualized tutoring by a special education teacher;  
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2. Respondent is hereby ordered to provide the Student with two hours of 

speech and language therapy and four hours of behavioral support services; 

3. Respondent is directed to conduct an FBA and BIP of the Student within 

sixty days;  

4. Petitioners’ other requests for relief are hereby denied. 

 Dated: November 29, 2016 

       Michael Lazan      
                                                                                     Impartial Hearing Officer 
   
cc: Office of Dispute Resolution  
 Attorney A, Esq. 
 Attorney B, Esq. 
 OSSE Division of Specialized Education  
 Contact.resolution@dc.gov 
 Chief Hearing Officer 
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X.  Notice of Appeal Rights 
 

 This is the final administrative decision in this matter.  Any party aggrieved by this 

Hearing Officer Determination may bring a civil action in any state court of competent 

jurisdiction or in a District Court of the United States without regard to the amount in 

controversy within ninety (90) days from the date of the Hearing Officer Determination in 

accordance with 20 USC §1415(i). 

Date: November 29, 2016 
   
       Michael Lazan 
               Impartial Hearing Officer 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 




